

Australia's National Science Agency

Modelling circular economy transition targets

September 2024



Citation

Miatto A, Lu Y, Marcos Martinez R, and Schandl H (2024). Modelling circular economy transition targets. A report for the Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water. CSIRO, Australia.

Copyright

© Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation 2024. To the extent permitted by law, all rights are reserved and no part of this publication covered by copyright may be reproduced or copied in any form or by any means except with the written permission of CSIRO.

ISBN - 978-1-4863-2126-1

Important disclaimer

CSIRO advises that the information contained in this publication comprises general statements based on scientific research. The reader is advised and needs to be aware that such information may be incomplete or unable to be used in any specific situation. No reliance or actions must therefore be made on that information without seeking prior expert professional, scientific and technical advice. To the extent permitted by law, CSIRO (including its employees and consultants) excludes all liability to any person for any consequences, including but not limited to all losses, damages, costs, expenses and any other compensation, arising directly or indirectly from using this publication (in part or in whole) and any information or material contained in it.

CSIRO is committed to providing web accessible content wherever possible. If you are having difficulties with accessing this document please contact csiro.au/contact.

Acknowledgments

This report has been funded by the Australian Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water (DCCEEW). We would like thank Timothy Zerk, Stephanie Garside, Rachael Howlett, and the Circular Economy team at DCCEEW for their support of this work and feedback on earlier versions of the report. Moreover, we extend our thanks to Jim West and Mariana Dias Baptista of CSIRO for their feedback during the writing of this report.

Foreword

A report for the Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water

This report has been prepared for the Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water to inform target setting as part of Australia's national circular economy transition. Australia is committed to collaborating with the private sector to eliminate waste and pollution, keep materials in use, and foster markets to achieve a circular economy by 2030. A key aspect could be the establishment of goals and targets that set the ambition for Australia's circular economy transition. In this report, we reviewed the modelling results of the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) International Resource Panel's Global Resources Outlook 2024 for Australia. This assessment aims to determine whether the ambitious sustainability policy scenario of the Global Resources Outlook can provide insights into Australia's ability to achieve its circularity targets. This analysis adds to the knowledge base supporting Australia's circular economy efforts.

Contents

Ex	ecut	ive summary	1		
1	Introduction				
2	Australia's circularity goals and targets				
3	nario modelling and scenario settings	7			
	3.1	Scenario model assumptions	8		
	3.2	Caveats	9		
	3.3	Policy relevance to Australia	9		
4	Res	ults	11		
	4.1	Material footprint	12		
	4.2	Domestic material consumption	14		
	4.3	Material productivity	17		
	4.4	Waste generation	18		
	4.5	Recycling rates and recycled waste	21		
	4.6	Circularity rate	23		
	4.7	Greenhouse gas abatement and economic implications	24		
5	Disc	cussion	25		
	5.1	Evaluation of Australia's circular economy goals and targets	25		
Re	References				
Ap	pen	dix: Sectoral circular economy opportunities	32		

Figures

Figure 1 Relative savings for five key indicators for the Circular Economy Policy scenario compared with the Historical Trends scenario	
Figure 2 Australia's material footprint 2010-205012	
Figure 3 Australia's material footprint per capita 2010-205013	
Figure 4 Australia's material footprint for six provision systems 2014-2050 and two scenarios	
Figure 5 Changes in Australia's material footprint for six provision systems between the Historical Trends scenario and the Circular Economy Policy scenario in 2025, 2030, 2035, 2040, 2045, and 2050	
Figure 6 Australia's domestic material consumption 2010-205015	,
Figure 7 Australia's per capita domestic material consumption 2010-205015	,
Figure 8 Composition of Australia's domestic material consumption for two different scenarios 2010-2050)
Figure 9 Changes in Australia's domestic material consumption between the Historical Trends scenario and the Circular Economy Policy scenario in 2025, 2030, 2035, 2040, 2045, and 2050	,
Figure 10 Australia's material productivity 2010-2050	,
Figure 11 Australia's total waste generation from 2010 to 2050	í
Figure 12 Australia's total waste generation per capita from 2010 to 2050	I
Figure 13 Australia's waste generation by material type for two scenarios from 2014 to 205020	1
Figure 14 Australia's core waste plus ash generation 2010-2050	1
Figure 15 Australia's core waste and ash recycling rates 2010-2050 for two scenarios21	
Figure 16 Australia's core waste and ash sent to landfill 2010-2050	
Figure 17 Australia's recycled waste from core waste and ash 2010-2050	
Figure 18 Australia's historical circularity rate (2010-2021) plus three alternative circularity rates (2021-2050)	i

Tables

Table 1 Key r	numerical results of this report	.2
Table 2 Sumr	mary of five policy goals and their likelihood of being achieved by 2030	26
Table 3 Sumr	mary of five policy goals and their likelihood of being achieved by 2035	26
Table 4 Sumr	mary of five policy goals and their likelihood of being achieved by 2050	27



Executive summary

This study explores what can be achieved in Australia's transition toward increased resource efficiency and a circular economy if the necessary economic and policy conditions are created. Specifically, it investigates the extent to which the goal of doubling circularity by 2035 can be realised and whether the mooted policy interventions will enable Australia to reduce its per capita material footprint, increase material productivity, and lift the resource recovery rate.

The study utilises existing modelling from the UNEP International Resource Panel's flagship report, the Global Resources Outlook, to analyse the key model outcomes for Australia. This approach allows us to compare a baseline of 'historical trends' to a sustainability scenario, which serves as a proxy for circular economy policies in Australia.

By comparing the methodological assumptions and the sector coverage of the Global Resources Outlook to Australia's circular economy opportunities, we find sufficient similarities in the assumptions to justify using the existing data for interpreting Australia's circular economy pathway.

Our findings suggest that concerted efforts by governments, businesses, and the community could enable Australia to double its circularity by 2035, reduce its per capita material footprint by 10%, and increase material productivity by 30% by 2035. Furthermore, reducing waste to landfill by nearly 80% (achieving an 80% recovery rate) appears within reach (Figure 1 and Table 1).

The sophisticated multi-model framework of the Global Resources Outlook effectively captures the challenges and benefits of a profound and far-reaching economic transition, such as the shift to a circular economy. This transition will require significant changes in material supply chains, key provision systems, business and government procurement, and household behaviour. The study's results indicate that ample time will be needed to guide current investments, infrastructure decisions, and behaviours towards achieving Australia's low-carbon and circular economy goals.



Figure 1 Relative savings for five key indicators for the Circular Economy Policy scenario compared with the Historical Trends scenario. The table at the bottom of the figure reports the value for these five indicators for 2030 and 2035.

Table 1 Key numerical results of this report.

HISTORICAL DATA	CIRCULARITY RATE [%]	DMC/CAP [t/CAP]	MF/CAP [t/CAP]	MATERIAL PRODUCTIVITY [USD/kg]	WASTE TO LANDFILL [Mt]		
2020	4.6%	45	32	\$1.28	30		
Historical Trends							
2030	4.4%	48	31	\$1.36	34		
2035	4.5%	48	31	\$1.43	34		
Circular Economy Policies							
2030	5.8%	45	29	\$1.45	16		
2035	8.4%	43	28	\$1.61	8		



1 Introduction

The growing awareness of escalating material consumption has brought the concept of the circular economy into the mainstream (Brody, 2022; Leipold et al., 2023). This concept has recently gained significant traction as a more sustainable alternative to the traditional linear economy (Stahel, 2019). In a linear economy, resources are extracted, processed, manufactured into products, used, and eventually discarded as waste. This economic model exerts excessive pressure on natural ecosystems, as highlighted by a recent study on planetary boundaries (Richardson et al., 2023). In contrast, the circular economy aims to shift this linear pattern by emphasising strategies that reduce material extraction, extend the lifespan of products, and minimise waste disposal. The transition from a linear to a circular model is intended to foster a more sustainable, resilient, and efficient economy (Mayer et al., 2019).

The circular economy's focus extends beyond environmental benefits, encompassing economic and social dimensions integral to the three pillars of sustainable development (Purvis et al., 2019). Economically, the circular economy aims to achieve more with less. By rethinking product design, such as eliminating waste at the design stage and incorporating secondary materials into final products, the circular economy can significantly reduce the demand for virgin materials (Haar, 2024). These strategies help conserve natural resources, alleviate pressure on natural ecosystems, and enhance resilience, particularly when resources are reprocessed locally. Furthermore, this innovative circular approach fosters innovation and creates business opportunities as companies explore new ways to repurpose materials, extend product lifespans, and develop additional revenue streams, as evidenced in Europe (Busu & Trica, 2019). From an environmental perspective, the circular economy aims to tackle some of today's most urgent challenges: climate change, resource depletion, biodiversity loss, and pollution (Rockström et al., 2024). By promoting the principles of reducing, reusing, and recycling (the three Rs) (Russell, 1995), the circular economy contributes to lowering greenhouse gas emissions and reducing the environmental footprint of manufacturing. It also supports ecosystem conservation by minimising material extraction (Huuhka & Vestergaard, 2020). Furthermore, through efficient design, the circular economy reduces waste and pollution (Bovea & Powell, 2016), which significantly affect human health (Siddiqua et al., 2022).

From a social perspective, the contributions of the circular economy are equally significant (Mies & Gold, 2021). Through its innovative approach, the circular economy has the potential to create new jobs and enhance economic resilience by fostering local manufacturing, recycling, and repurposing industries (Suárez-Eiroa et al., 2021). The transition to a circular economy demands new skills, novel approaches, and creative thinking, generating employment opportunities (Pratt, 2022). These opportunities extend beyond manufacturing and product design, driving the need for education and upskilling, developing facilities to process materials differently, and promoting businesses that offer alternative business models to ownership (Ameli, 2017; Ferasso et al., 2020). Ultimately, from a social standpoint, the circular economy can contribute to social equity and an improved quality of life (Nikanorova et al., 2020; Schröder et al., 2020). People can benefit from reduced pollution, healthier natural ecosystems, and more resilient national economies.

Given that the circular economy can support all three pillars of sustainable development, it is unsurprising that national governments are increasingly recognising its importance and issuing roadmaps to transition their economic models towards circular ones (Calisto Friant et al., 2021; Zhu et al., 2019). However, roadmaps alone may not be most effective unless paired with measurable metrics. One of the key metrics for assessing progress towards a circular economy is the circularity rate, which measures the percentage of recycled materials used within a national economy compared to all materials (Corona et al., 2019; Haas et al., 2015; Kostakis & Tsagarakis, 2022; Mayer et al., 2019). This metric offers a snapshot of an economy's reliance on primary materials and, conversely, its use of secondary materials. Governments can set benchmarks for the circularity rate, as seen in Finland (Statistics Finland, 2024), the European Union (European Commission, 2023), and the Netherlands (Government of the Netherlands, 2023). Measuring the circularity rate over time is particularly valuable, as it allows for monitoring progress and ensuring that the current circular economy initiatives are achieving their intended outcomes. Additionally, it can help identify trends and signal the need for intervention if progress deviates from desired trajectories.

Material flow accounting provides a physical perspective on the economic process and measures the tonnes of materials mobilised within the economy. The accounts are guided by the System of Environmental Economic Accounting (SEEA) framework and complement the system of national accounts. They report on materials, whether domestically extracted or traded, and outputs, including exports, waste, and emissions. The accounts can also include sectorspecific detail, recycled flows, and material stocks. The methodology for national material flow accounts is now standardised (UNEP, 2023) with additional methodological guidance for measuring circularity currently under development by the European Commission and with the OECD (UNECE, 2023).

In this study, we utilise CSIRO's Global Trade and Environment Model (GTEM), which integrates material flows, energy, and emissions into its economic modelling framework, and use existing model runs developed for the Global Resources Outlook (UNEP, 2024). Currently, no global and national models fully incorporate waste flows, so we used technology-based stock and flow modelling to estimate the waste potential of the Australian economy (Schandl & Miatto, 2018). We also created concordance between the material categories of the waste potential account derived from stock-flow dynamics and the product and end-of-life categories of the Australian Waste Statistics (Blue Environment, 2022).

This combination of existing model runs and additional modelling of stocks, flows, and waste has enabled us to establish forecasts to 2050. It allows us to assess the potential outcomes when Australia implements a system built on resource efficiency and circular economy interventions.



2 Australia's circularity goals and targets

Australia has substantial opportunities to capitalise on the global shift towards a more circular economy, and indicators that measure progress can play a key role in this. New indicators can help track Australia's circularity and set ambitious goals. These goals might include increasing the national circularity rate, reducing the country's material footprint, improving material productivity, and raising recycling rates.

The circularity rate measures how much a national economy depends on primary materials and how effectively it uses secondary materials in key economic activities to reduce reliance on primary resources. Circularity can be improved in several ways, such as increasing the circularity potential through structural economic adjustments and maximising this potential by keeping materials in use for longer.

The material footprint indicator represents the total amount of raw materials extracted to satisfy Australia's needs, including household and government consumption and capital investment. It links the Australian economy to both upstream (imported final goods) and downstream (primary material exports) material supply chains. Crucially, the material footprint accounts for the materials "embodied" in both imports and exports. This means that if materials are used abroad to produce an item imported into Australia, those materials are included in Australia's material footprint, not the country of origin, even if they are not physically part of the final product. Similarly, if mine tailings are generated in Australia during the production of metal concentrate from ore, the waste is attributed to the importing country's material footprint rather than Australia's. A high per capita material footprint contributes to significant environmental impacts such as climate change, biodiversity loss, resource depletion, and pollution. In the long term, the environmental consequences can erode living standards, leading the country to a gradual decline (Brinsmead et al., 2019). In addition, this report measures domestic material consumption and waste to landfill. Domestic material consumption (DMC) measures the total amount of materials an economy uses. It accounts for the sum of all raw materials extracted within a country, plus all imported materials, minus all exported materials. DMC includes various categories such as biomass, fossil fuels, metal ores, and non-metallic minerals.

Material productivity is a measure of resource efficiency and provides insight into the functioning of the economy vis-à-vis the environment. The relationship between material productivity and economic growth is crucial for understanding how economies can grow sustainably. Material productivity is defined as the economic output generated per unit of material input, typically measured as gross domestic product (GDP) per unit of material use (using the DMC indicator). Higher material productivity leads to higher economic growth. Improving material productivity is essential for achieving sustainable economic growth, as it involves producing more economic value with less material input, thereby decoupling economic growth from resource use and environmental degradation. Resource recovery is the process of extracting valuable materials or energy from waste or by-products. It aims to divert waste from landfills, reduce environmental impact, and promote the efficient use of resources. This process is a crucial component of the circular economy, where the goal is to keep resources in use for as long as possible, extract maximum value from them, and then recover and regenerate products and materials at the end of their service life.

Waste-to-landfill refers to the disposal of waste materials by burying them in designated landfill sites. This method involves placing waste in large, excavated areas, which are then covered with soil. Despite being a common waste management practice, landfilling has significant environmental, social, and economic implications and hence needs to be addressed. Usually, landfilling end-of-life materials incurs a significant cost (waste levy) and involves the destruction of the potential value of the materials.





3 Scenario modelling and scenario settings

Scenario modelling is a valuable tool for policy formation because it helps anticipate future challenges, evaluate the potential impacts of different policy options, and guide informed decision-making. By simulating various scenarios, policymakers can better understand the consequences of their actions, identify risks and opportunities, and develop resilient and adaptable strategies to changing circumstances.

Scenario modelling is especially helpful when planning policy initiatives that aim to transform complex economic and environmental interactions, such as the national effort to transition to a circular economy. Designing for zero waste, keeping materials in circulation at their highest value, and conserving natural resources and ecosystems all imply profound shifts in cities, industries, energy, land, and food systems.

For a decade, CSIRO has invested in building integrated modelling capability to address such profound changes and better understand their economic, environmental, and policy implications. Building on the Australian approach, CSIRO has also coordinated the use of multimodel frameworks for the United Nations Environment Programme International Resource Panel for the Global Resources Outlook (UNEP, 2024). In this report, we have focussed on the two core scenarios of the recent Global Resources Outlook, titled Historical Trends and Sustainability Transition. This contrasts a continuation of current policies with an alternative, encompassing ambitious policy initiatives for resource efficiency, climate mitigation, and land use change. The Sustainability Scenario is aimed at managing the global economy within planetary boundaries. These two scenarios are applied to the Australian national economy and analysed the implications of Australia's Circular Economy Policy for material flows, waste, and circularity.

The scenarios are developed around a core economic model, CSIRO's Global Trade and Environment Model (GTEM). This model is one of just two global models that have integrated material flows into their economic core, the other being the OECD model (OECD, 2019). This modelling draws on a resource efficiency scenario developed for the Global Resources Outlook 2024, which describes a suite of global circular economy interventions. The model has the flexibility to allow a standalone modelling package that can report Australia's results. Additionally, the model can produce an overarching estimate of Australia's greenhouse gas savings.

The sustainability transitions scenario is modelled in GTEM as a series of macroeconomic policies that deviate from historical trends, including individual packages focussed on resource efficiency, greenhouse gas abatement, and land use changes. The resource efficiency policy package is modelled by introducing a cost on the externalities of primary resource consumption (more on this in 3.1). This package uses shadow prices for the costs associated with policies, regulations, and initiatives. The proceeds are reinvested into innovation that enhances resource efficiency. The second component of the resource efficiency package involves shifting demand in key consumption areas, such as food, housing, mobility, and consumer goods, to reflect preferences and behaviours that favour resource efficiency. This component includes innovative solutions that reduce material use, promote recycling, and encourage reuse.

The climate and energy shift is modelled as a standalone package. The primary energy mix in the sustainability transitions scenario aligns with the International Energy Agency's (IEA) net zero emissions scenario (IEA, 2023). The global emissions budget used is derived from the Dutch Integrated Model to Assess the Global Environment (IMAGE) and met through a combination of the gradual deployment of technology-based carbon dioxide removal (CDR) and the introduction of a global carbon levy. IMAGE is a comprehensive, integrated assessment model that simulates the interactions between human activities and natural systems to assess global environmental change and its impacts (Stehfest et al., 2014). For this analysis, Australia's baseline emissions have been adjusted to align with previous CSIRO projects for the Climate Change Authority (Verikios et al., 2024). The net emissions are consistent with the National Greenhouse Gas Inventory (NGGI) June 2023 quarterly update (covering historical emissions up to 2023) and DCCEEW's 2023 baseline emissions projection (the "no measure" scenario) from 2024 to 2035. From 2035 to 2050, model outputs from the Climate Change Authority baseline were used. Additionally, emissions from broad sectors, including agriculture, the electricity sector, and LULUCF (Land Use, Land-Use Change, and Forestry), were targeted.

However, transportation was not targeted, as modifying the model for that sector would require more significant adjustments. The renewable energy targets from the GRO work, as previously described, have also been implemented.

The land use policy package is informed by the projections of the Global Biosphere Management Model (GLOBIOM) and includes a diet shift scenario. GLOBIOM is a global economic-land use model with an integrated treatment of agriculture, forestry, and bioenergy sectors that identifies competition for land use and its impacts, including on the environment, food security, and greenhouse gas emissions (Havlík et al., 2011). Combining the three policy packages constitutes the sustainability transition scenario.

These macroeconomic policy interventions are complemented by more detailed sectoral initiatives for construction and buildings, transport and mobility, and electricity generation. They include reduced per capita residential floor space, extended service life, lightweighting and substitution, changes in modal split in mobility and transportation, and higher electrification. They also assume materials-specific end-of-life recycling rates.

Taken together, the three macroeconomic policy packages and the sectoral initiatives deliver the reduced material requirements, waste, and emissions outcomes of the Sustainability Transition scenario.

3.1 Scenario model assumptions

The model assumes two basic circular economy mechanisms: supply-side (production changes) and demand-side (behaviour change) interventions.

Production changes (mechanism 1): This mechanism involves introducing extraction shadow prices for sectors like forestry, fisheries, coal, oil, gas, and other mining activities. The shadow price represents the cost of measures to improve resource efficiency and circularity driven by policy initiatives. As such, a shadow price is not necessarily a tax but an additional production cost to comply with regulations. For coal, oil, and gas, the shadow price starts at 10% in 2020 and gradually increases to 45% by 2050. For other resource extraction sectors, it begins at 8% in 2020, rising to 31% by 2050.

Mechanism 1 acts as a proxy for either a tax on these industries or policy/legislation that achieves equivalent price effects (defined as a shadow price). Mechanism 1 assumes a suite of policies that effectively increase the price of raw materials, but this is offset by improved material efficiency enabled by investment in innovation and improved technologies, resulting in net-positive economic growth.

Mechanism 1 assumes the presence of harmonised standards, industrial symbiosis, and green chemistry in the remanufacturing space. It accounts for reduced food waste and a higher presence of recycling materials in the agricultural and industrial domains. It also includes longerlasting buildings and infrastructure, as well as higher metal recovery throughout the nation.

In essence, mechanism 1 represents circular economy policies or programs that effectively disincentivise the use of primary materials or incentivise the use of secondary materials through a price signal and measures that support innovation to improve material value, longevity, and reusability.

Behaviour changes (mechanism 2): This mechanism focuses on reducing demand for fossil fuels, some organic products (fibre, timber), iron and steel, non-ferrous metals, non-metallic minerals, and fisheries. In Australia, demand for iron and steel, non-ferrous metals, and non-metallic minerals is reduced by 0.75% per year starting in 2020. Demand reduction is set at 0.5% annually from 2020 for other sectors.

Mechanism 2 considers both industry production and household preference changes, reflecting shifts driven by businesses adopting circular economy strategies for reasons like consumer reputation, economic benefits, or strategic development.

Mechanism 2 reflects circular economy interventions in the built environment (re-use over rebuild), household consumption changes (e.g., increased repair and re-use of consumable products), and changing procurement patterns (sustainable procurement).

3.2 Caveats

The economic impacts of resource efficiency and circularity measures crucially depend on the calibration of the price changes assumed in the model. In turn, these prices hinge on the detailed design and implementation of the policies used to achieve them. However, the current results provide a reasonable estimate of the quantum of potential abatement and the associated economic impact based on internationally recognised benchmarks.

It is important to note that the modelling of the current scenario does not explore the full potential of circular economy policies, including ambitious resource recovery and recycling, which would be expected to deliver greater reductions in resource use (relative to historical trends). The contribution of circular economy policies to Australia achieving its Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) needs to be incorporated into future modelling and outlooks.

3.3 Policy relevance to Australia

In 2022, Australia's environment ministers agreed to accelerate the national transition to a circular economy (Australian Government, 2022). Australia's transition to a circular economy is expected to be driven by policies and programs that reflect both mechanism 1 (shadow price) and mechanism 2 (behaviour change) assumptions.

Australia's transition to a circular economy is expected to be driven by policies and programs that reflect both Mechanism 1 (shadow price) and Mechanism 2 (behaviour change) assumptions.

Relevant interventions, which governments are using or planning to use, include:

- **State-based landfill levies:** These levies make it more expensive to dispose of waste, including waste from virgin materials, encouraging recycling and the use of secondary materials.
- Sustainable Procurement Policies: The Australian Government, and various state and territory governments, have introduced procurement connected policies that incentivise the use of circular goods and services. These policies include, for example, Victoria's Recycled First Policy for transport infrastructure, which is a market instrument deprioritising the use of virgin materials and incentivising innovation in recycled materials use and technology.

- Product bans or stewardship schemes: Various industryand government-led product stewardship schemes have been established to improve consumer access to resource recovery initiatives and better reflect the external costs of resource recovery activities. Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) schemes are increasingly being adopted as the preferred model to make manufacturers responsible for the entire lifecycle of their products, from design to disposal. These schemes encourage companies to factor in the costs of material recovery, recycling, and end-of-life management, driving more sustainable production and reducing waste.
- **Product and materials innovation schemes:** States and territories have introduced materials innovation programs to improve material productivity. For example, Green Industries SA offers various grants to support circular economy initiatives, including improving the value of recycled materials and reducing reliance on virgin materials.
- **Product efficiency scheme for energy and water:** Australia already has regulated schemes to improve the energy and water efficiency of products through star rating schemes. Since its establishment in 2006, the Water Efficiency Labelling Scheme has been estimated to have saved 27 million tonnes of emissions.

Although Australia has not traditionally included the circular economy as part of its net zero strategy or Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs), the policy measures implemented at national, state, and territory levels are expected to reduce Australia's emissions significantly. Additionally, the Australian Government is looking to corral and expand these priorities as it accelerates Australia's transition to a circular economy.





4 Results

In this section, we first analyse the results for the material footprint and its division into six provision systems (section 4.1). We then move on to the domestic material consumption (section 4.2). In section 4.3, we assess Australia's material productivity. We then look at waste generation in section 4.4, recycling rates and recycled waste in section 4.5, and finally conclude with the circularity rate in section 4.6.

Each figure will present historical data from 2010-2014 to 2021-2024 (depending on the earliest/latest available data) and also model projections until 2050 under both the historical trends scenario and the sustainability scenario (Historical Trends Scenario). This analysis will also display the modelled achievable results to assess progress and identify gaps in meeting circular economy goals (Circular Economy Policy Scenario).

These indicators are twofold important. First, they are metrics that directly measure material use, which is directly linked with various environmental impacts, e.g., deforestation, biodiversity loss, soil erosion, and indirectly with many others, such as climate change and pollution. Second, they are an essential policy tool to measure the efficiency of the overall economy from a physical standpoint. When these indicators are tracked over extended periods, as done in this study, they reveal trends that signal progress or provide early warnings of movement in an unsustainable directions.

We include both absolute and per capita values where important to do so (e.g., domestic material consumption). Doing so will provide a comprehensive view of the progress and impact of the circular economy measures, offering insights into overall performance as well as individual contributions. The detailed analysis will help understand proposed targets' effectiveness and the necessary adjustments to achieve the desired outcomes.

4.1 Material footprint

The material footprint measures the mass of all raw materials needed to manufacture products ultimately used in a national economy, regardless of where these materials are extracted or processed. In this context, the material footprint is a "consumption-based" indicator, measuring material use based on the final consumer, irrespective of the origin of these materials or the potential waste generated during the manufacturing process. Thus, it better reflects the materials needed to meet the needs of the Australian population, excluding materials used in products destined for overseas consumption. This measurement considers the mass of all raw materials extracted to fulfil the needs of Australia's people, both historically and in the future (Figure 2).

Historically, Australia's material footprint has been stable, averaging around 816 Mt per year, with the lowest recorded footprint at 768 Mt in 2014 and the highest at 844 Mt in 2019. Looking ahead, the Historical Trend scenario predicts a progressive increase in the material footprint, reaching 1,159 Mt by 2050, with a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 1.2%. In contrast, the Circular Economy Policy scenario also anticipates growth in the material footprint but at a slower rate than the Historical Trends scenario. This sustainable scenario projects the material footprint to reach 890 Mt by 2050, resulting in a significantly lower CAGR of 0.3%.

The absolute values of the material footprint presented in Figure 2 are better understood when considering Australia's continuous population growth, both historical and forecasted. Material footprint data normalised by population are illustrated in Figure 3. Historical data on the per capita material footprint show a progressive decline in recent years. In 2010, Australians required approximately 38 t/cap to meet their material demands, which, despite some fluctuations, declined to 31 t/cap by 2024.

The two scenarios we present highlight contrasting trajectories. The Historical Trends scenario shows a slow but steady increase in the per capita material footprint, reaching 33 t/cap by 2050. Conversely, the Circular Economy Policy scenario continues to decrease slowly, with an expected value of 25 t/cap by 2050. This corresponds to a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of -0.8% between 2024 and 2050.



Figure 2 Australia's material footprint 2010-2050.





We divide the overall material footprint into five systems of provision essential for fulfilling human well-being: Housing, Food, Mobility, Energy, and Communication (Figure 4). An additional sixth category, labelled "Other," includes sectors not previously covered, such as education, healthcare, and government. This analysis is crucial because it highlights the varying material dependencies of different sectors. For example, mobility is heavily materialdependent, while communication meets its needs with minimal material inputs.

In both scenarios, the Housing provision system uses the most materials. Under the Historical Trends scenario, this system consumes 404 Mt in 2050, while it requires only 316 Mt in the more sustainable Circular Economy Policy scenario. This reduction is achieved through dematerialisation efforts and increased use of timber to replace concrete. The Food system ranks second, requiring 206 Mt in the Historical Trends scenario and 148 Mt in the Circular Economy Policy scenario.

One important aspect to note is the Energy system, which, despite being relatively small compared to the total material footprint, experiences the most significant relative reduction between the two scenarios. The Energy system uses 53% less material in the Circular Economy Policy scenario than in the Historical Trends scenario. This substantial reduction results from vastly different policies on energy generation and the adoption of renewable energy systems.



Figure 4 Australia's material footprint for six provision systems 2014-2050 and two scenarios. A: Historical Trends; B: Circular Economy Policy

In Figure 5, similar to our analysis of domestic material consumption in Figure 9, we examine the differences in material footprint between the two scenarios by exploring the material savings of the Circular Economy Policy scenario compared to the Historical Trends scenario. Material reductions start strong, with a 6% savings between 2025 and 2030. These reductions progressively slow down, with the last five years adding only an extra 3% reduction between the two scenarios. By 2050, the Circular Economy Policy scenario uses 269 Mt, or 23%, fewer materials than the Historical Trends scenario.

Most of these savings are in the Housing provision system, which uses 88 million tonnes fewer materials compared with the Historical Trends scenario. The Other category also shows significant savings, using 78 million tonnes fewer materials between the two scenarios.

4.2 Domestic material consumption

Domestic Material Consumption (DMC) is one of the headline indicators of material flow accounting. Material flow accounting and derived indicators have been adopted by the UNEP, the OECD, and the European Commission to monitor the progress of the circular economy. DMC denotes the materials managed in the domestic economy, whether domestically extracted or imported. Exported materials are subtracted from DMC, but the waste and emissions due to the exports are recorded in the DMC. For instance, we extract metal ores and export metal concentrates. The mining waste is recorded in Australia's DMC, and the exported volumes of concentrates are subtracted.

DMC hence informs about the total amount of materials biomass, fossil fuels, metal ores, non-metallic minerals, and products thereof—managed in the domestic economy. Because every kilogram of material we manage has an environmental impact, DMC is a headline indicator for environmental impacts and the long-term waste potential of an economy. DMC can be managed by domestic and trade policies.



Figure 5 Changes in Australia's material footprint for six provision systems between the Historical Trends scenario and the Circular Economy Policy scenario in 2025, 2030, 2035, 2040, 2045, and 2050.

Historically, Australia has a very high DMC, which is driven by Australia's economic focus on primary industries. It is high in both absolute and per-capita terms (see Figure 6 and Figure 7). Between 2010-2024 Australia's domestic material consumption grew from 994 million tonnes to 1,278 million tonnes. The two scenarios we present display progressively diverging trends. The Historical Trends scenario projects that, in 2050, Australia will manage 1,722 million tonnes of materials, a yearly average growth of 1.1%. The Circular Economy Policy scenario would see a much slower increase in Australia's DMC, which would reach 1,350 million tonnes by 2050 (an average annual growth rate of 0.2%), almost 400 million tonnes less compared with the Historical Trends scenario forecast. Some of the reduction in DMC for the Circular Economy Policy scenario would be achieved by domestic circular economy efforts paired with a significant reduction in global demand for primary materials in a global low carbon and circular economy.

Because Australia's population is expected to continue growing, per-capita DMC is forecast to stabilise under Historical Trends assumptions and is predicted to decline with the domestic (and global) Circular Economy Policy (Figure 7). The Historical Trend scenario would see per capita DMC stabilise at just under 50 tonnes per capita. The Circular Economy Policy would see per capita DMC progressively fall from 48 tonnes per capita in 2024 to 38 tonnes per capita in 2050.



Figure 6 Australia's per capita domestic material consumption 2010-2050.



Figure 7 Australia's domestic material consumption 2010-2050. The figure covers historical data (2010-2024) and two scenarios (2024-2050).

Figure 8 presents the domestic material consumption composition by four material categories for the two scenarios analysed. Figure 8A shows the composition under Historical Trends, while Figure 8B depicts the Circular Economy Policy scenario. The totals correspond to those shown in Figure 6. Under Historical Trends, metal ores represent the largest flow, with a cumulative total of 13.9 billion tonnes for 2024-2050. Similarly, the Circular Economy Policy scenario also shows metal ores as the largest cumulative flow, totalling 11.9 billion tonnes for the same period. However, the most intriguing aspect is the comparison of the differences between the two scenarios, which we explore in Figure 9. Figure 9 compares the differences between the Historical Trends and Circular Economy Policy scenarios, focusing on material savings under the Circular Economy Policy scenario compared to continuing current material use trends. The Circular Economy Policy scenario shows progressively greater savings, culminating in 22% fewer materials used by 2050 than the Historical Trends scenario. This 22% reduction equates to 372 million tonnes of material savings, predominantly in metal ores and biomass. Notably, the fossil fuel category sees the most significant reduction at 25%, driven by decarbonisation efforts, marking the steepest change across all material categories. Conversely, the non-metallic mineral category experiences the slowest decline at 18%. Despite this relatively smaller percentage, the substantial share of non-metallic minerals in the economy means this reduction translates to a net saving of 89 million tonnes.



Figure 8 Composition of Australia's domestic material consumption for two different scenarios 2010-2050. A: Historical Trends; B: Circular Economy Policy



Figure 9 Changes in Australia's domestic material consumption between the Historical Trends scenario and the Circular Economy Policy scenario in 2025, 2030, 2035, 2040, 2045, and 2050.

4.3 Material productivity

Material productivity measures how much gross domestic product is generated for each kilogram of domestic material consumption (DMC). This high-level indicator is useful because it compares economic growth with the use of physical resources within a nation's territory, which, as previously mentioned, are always associated with some environmental impact. Ideally, we would like to see an increasing trend in material productivity because it indicates that, over time, more wealth is produced with each unit of materials used. To obtain meaningful results, we use constant dollars, which means that inflation is accounted for and does not artificially inflate material productivity. We note that we report our results in constant 2015 U.S. dollars to enable comparison with other countries, as is often done in material productivity analyses.

We explore Australia's material productivity in Figure 10. Historically, Australia's material productivity has slowly moved up. It started at \$1.19 per kilogram in 2010 and reached \$1.27 per kilogram in 2024. From this point, both scenarios calculated a progressive increase, albeit at two different rates. The Historical Trends scenario grows by \$0.014 per year and reaches \$1.63 per kilogram in 2050. The Circular Economy Policy scenario, on the other hand, grows by \$0.032 per year, delivering a material productivity of \$2.11/kg in 2050.





4.4 Waste generation

Waste is one of the headline indicators present in the Measuring What Matters framework under the "Resource Use and Waste Generation" topic (Australian Treasury, 2024). Currently, this indicator reports the "Proportion of waste recovered for reuse, recycling, or energy." In this and the following sections, we offer additional waste information to better frame our understanding of Australia's waste generation and management.

We present in Figure 11 Australia's total waste generation from 2010 to 2050 (note that with total waste, we include municipal, industrial, and mining waste). Available historical data cover 2010-2021, which are then followed by the two scenarios Historical Trends and Circular Economy Policy. Historical data display that, in 2010, Australia generated 381 million tonnes of waste. Waste generation grew steadily, reaching 696 million tonnes in 2021. There is a dip in waste generation in 2019, likely linked to the global pandemic and appearing in 2019 because of Australia's reporting frame. While the dip in waste generation has most likely happened in the first half of 2020, the waste generation reported by the Blue Environment report goes from July 1st to June 30th, which aligns with Australia's fiscal year reporting.

Moving forward, the two scenarios show continuous growth of the overall waste generation. The Historical Trends scenario reaches 1,117 million tonnes in 2050, while the Circular Economy Policy scenario reaches 866 million tonnes. In both cases, the average yearly increase in waste production decreases slightly. At the beginning of our projections, the Historical Trends gains over 20 million tonnes in a single year, while at the end, this growth is reduced to 13 million tonnes. The Circular Economy Policy scenario exhibits the same trend at a reduced rate. The initial addition to the generated waste is 12 million tonnes, while the final is 3 million tonnes. This stark reduction in waste generated in the most sustainable of the two scenarios is linked to both dematerialisation efforts and a general extension of product lifetimes.



Figure 11 Australia's total waste generation from 2010 to 2050.

It is interesting to observe the opposing trends in waste generation between the two scenarios when we normalise them by population (Figure 12). Historically, per capita waste generation has increased from 17 t/cap in 2010 to 27 t/cap in 2021. These values correspond to a compound annual growth rate of 4.2% over 11 years. Moving forward, the two scenarios envision two diverging trajectories. The Historical Trends scenario displays a continuous growth in the waste generated by each Australian person, reaching 32 tonnes in 2050. The Circular Economy Policy scenario, on the other hand, foresees a slow but progressive reduction, with waste production decreasing below 25 t/cap by 2050. Once again, this result is linked to dematerialisation policies and increased product lifetimes, which include reuse. In Figure 13, we compare the waste composition between the two scenarios, similar to what we reported for the domestic material consumption in Figure 8. It is important to keep in mind that this figure shows the split of solid waste into four material categories. Thus, it does not include other outputs such as air or water emissions.

It is evident that mining waste makes up most of Australia's overall solid waste. It is 88% of all the waste generated in the Historical Trends scenario and 87% in the Circular Economy Policy. The other three waste categories are evenly split, at least when compared with waste derived from mining activities. In both scenarios, non-metallic minerals make up 5-6% of all waste, biomass is around 4%, and fossil fuels make up some 3%. This result clearly indicates that, in terms of sheer mass, mining waste is where most of the waste reduction efforts might be concentrated.



Figure 12 Australia's total waste generation per capita from 2010 to 2050.



Figure 13 Australia's waste generation by material type for two scenarios from 2014 to 2050. A: Historical Trends; B: Circular Economy Policy.

Because mining waste is so dominant in the overall waste generation figures (cf. Figure 13), we replot data on waste generation, excluding it (Figure 14). In other words, we show here the sum of municipal, industrial, construction and demolition waste (the sum of which is labelled "core waste"), and ash recovered from power plants. Looking at historical data, core waste and ash tallied between 65 and 76 million tonnes and, after an initial plateau, exhibited a generally growing trend. The Historical Trends scenario grows steadily from 76 million tonnes in 2021 to 100 million tonnes in 2050, adding, on average, an additional 800 thousand tonnes every year over the projection period. The Circular Economy Policy scenario is flat. It starts at 76 million tonnes in 2021 and ends at 78 million tonnes in 2050, with an average annual increase in waste generation of only 100 thousand tonnes, or 92% less than the Historical Trends scenario. We see, once again, that circular economy policies that foster material reuse and reduction can greatly contribute to minimising core waste generation.



Figure 14 Australia's core waste plus ash generation 2010-2050.

4.5 Recycling rates and recycled waste

In this section, we explore how two different recycling rates affect the mass of recycling waste and the flow of materials to landfills. Figure 15 displays past and modelled recycling rates. The historical rate indicates a slow increase over 2010-2021. In fact, it went from 49% to 60%. Moving forward, the Historical Trends scenario projects the historical data forward. It envisions slow but steady progress, which will reach 63% by 2050. In the Circular Economy Policy scenario, we adopt the ambitious recycling targets of Australia's National Waste Policy Action Plan, which aims to recycle or reuse 80% of its waste by 2030 (Australian Department of Climate Change, 2019). We then taper off this increase to a recycling rate of 90%, which is reached around 2035. The Circular Economy Policy recycling rate is very ambitious, but we chose it to explore how such a high recycling rate influences all subsequent indicators: recycled waste, waste-to-landfill, and the circularity rate.



Figure 15 Australia's core waste and ash recycling rates 2010-2050 for two scenarios.

The dramatic change in recycling displayed in Figure 15 results in vastly different amounts of waste sent to landfills (Figure 16). From a historical perspective, we found a steep decrease in the waste sent to landfill between 2010 (34 million tonnes) and 2011 (30 million tonnes). Since then, this number has stayed stable around the 30 million tonnes mark. Moving forward, the Historical Trends scenario sees a progressive increase in waste sent to landfill, mostly because a fairly steady recycling rate (see Figure 15) is paired with an increasing waste generation (cf. Figure 14). The Circular Economy Policy scenario envisions a very different future, where waste sent to landfill dramatically decreases to 8 million tonnes around 2040. The practically constant line between 2040 and 2050 happens because the constant recycling rate is paired with an almost constant total waste generation. It is important to emphasise that this result stems from our choice of the recycling rate curve, which, in the case of the Circular Economy Policy scenario, matches the target of 80% end-of-life recycling rate by 2030.



Figure 16 Australia's core waste and ash sent to landfill 2010-2050.

We show in Figure 17 the mass of recycled waste, which is complementary to Figure 16, in the sense that the sum of these two figures results in Figure 14. Historical data show a general upward trend. In 2010, Australia recycled 32 million tonnes of materials. Eleven years later, this number was 45 million tonnes. From there, both scenarios indicate a growth in the mass of recycled waste. From 2026 onwards, the Circular Economy Policy scenario outpaces the Historical Trends. In fact, the Circular Economy Policy scenario reaches 71 million tonnes of recycled materials in 2037 and plateaus around that level. The Historical Trends scenario has slow but constant growth for the whole duration of our analysis. In fact, it reaches 63 million tonnes of recycled materials in 2050. This growth happens because, in spite of a nearly constant end-of-life recycling rate of 63%, the overall generate waste increases, thus resulting in a constantly increasing flow of recycled materials.



Figure 17 Australia's recycled waste from core waste and ash 2010-2050.

4.6 Circularity rate

The circularity rate is a high-level measure of how much of the material we manage in a year is returned to another use in the economy; in other words, it accounts for the share of secondary materials in overall materials management (Figure 18). It measures recycling as a share of DMC. Over the last decade, Australia's circularity rate has been persistently at around 4%. Continuing Historical Trends with no additional policy ambition would maintain this low level of circularity all the way to 2050. This unwavering circularity rate happens because of a combination of trends, which include an increasing DMC and the recycling rate plateauing under 65%.

The Circular Economy Policy scenario, because of its more ambitious recycling targets—assuming they can be achieved—takes Australia's circularity rate to 6%. It plateaus around this mark because the waste streams that are targeted by the recycling effort are only the core waste and ash, which are relatively small compared with the overall waste, i.e., including mining waste. As an example, if we were progressively to reuse 10% of mining waste to replace virgin construction aggregates, it would take the circularity rate to 12%. While reusing 10% of mining waste as construction aggregates might seem like a modest goal, it may be difficult to achieve. First, the low unit value of construction aggregates makes long-distance transportation costly, rendering them uncompetitive with locally sourced materials. Additionally, construction aggregates typically need to be chemically stable and physically durable, which is often not the case for most mining wastes, especially metalliferous mine tailings. In-depth, case-by-case analysis will be needed to assess the potential for reusing mining waste and to identify economically viable opportunities.

There are similar opportunities for biological end-of-life materials that would further improve Australia's circularity rate. These opportunities can include composting and organic waste recycling, biogas and bioenergy production, and, more generally, circular agriculture practices. For example, implementing regenerative farming practices that prioritise waste reduction, soil health, and nutrient cycling can enhance the sustainability of Australia's agricultural sector.

It is useful to compare the circularity rate to circularity potential, which denotes the share of materials that can circulate assuming all technological options are realised. The potential was evaluated at 20% circularity in a previous study (Schandl et al., 2019).



Figure 18 Australia's historical circularity rate (2010-2021) plus three alternative circularity rates (2021-2050).

4.7 Greenhouse gas abatement and economic implications

Several international studies have demonstrated that resource efficiency and circular economy initiatives can significantly contribute to greenhouse gas (GHG) abatement, leading many countries to include circular economy strategies in their net zero pathways and Nationally Determined Contributions' for GHG emission reduction (UNEP, 2017). The resource efficiency package highlighted in the Global Resources Outlook suggests that by 2050 23% of GHG emission reductions could stem from circular economy policy initiatives, with supply-side improvements in resource extraction and manufacturing contributing 16% and demand-side changes accounting for 7% of these reductions respectively. This result underscores the potential for circular economy policy to play a critical role in achieving Australia's net zero goals.

Moreover, resource efficiency and circular economy measures appear to be economically advantageous, with projections indicating that the resource efficiency scenario could generate an additional US\$9 billion in 2015 prices (corresponding to US\$315 per capita) by 2030 and an additional US\$48 billion in 2015 prices (US\$1,357 per capita) by 2050, compared to a continuation of historical trends. In the short term, for the decade to 2035, doubling Australia's circularity has a potential economic payoff of \$15 billion, reduces greenhouse gas emissions by 14%, and allows diversion of 26 million tonnes of materials from landfill (or pollution) each year.

The effectiveness and economic impacts of these measures, however, depend heavily on the calibration of price changes in the model and the detailed design and implementation of the corresponding policies. Nonetheless, the current results offer a reasonable estimate of the potential abatement and economic benefits based on internationally recognised benchmarks.

It is important to note that the current scenario modelling does not capture the full potential of circular economy policies, including more ambitious resource recovery and recycling efforts, which could result in even greater reductions in resource use compared to historical trends. Future modelling and outlooks should incorporate the contribution of circular economy policies to Australia's achievement of its Nationally Determined Contribution targets.

5 Discussion

In this report, we explored two alternative futures for Australia's material flows: waste generation, recycling, and circularity. One is a continuation of current trends without additional policy effort, and the other is based on implementing ambitious circular economy policies. The core results of these two scenarios can be summarised as follows:

The Historical Trends scenario shows:

- A steady increase in domestic material consumption
- A similarly steady growth in the material footprint
- A moderate increase in material productivity
- Steady growth in waste generation
- Increasing amounts of waste sent to landfill
- A constant circularity rate of around 4.4%

The Circular Economy Policy scenario indicates:

- Plateauing domestic material consumption
- A steady material footprint
- High growth in material productivity
- Slow growth in waste generation
- A substantial decrease in waste sent to landfill
- A circularity rate that caps around 6%

Given that large flows of mining waste dominate Australia's waste profile, we propose further exploring the potential for progressive adoption of mining waste as loose aggregate in construction projects. This initiative could boost the circularity rate to nearly 12%. The diversion of biological materials from landfills and the utilisation of agricultural waste are other high-impact pathways that can improve Australia's circularity.

In addition, the circular economy also contributes to Greenhouse Gas (GHG) abatement and creates positive economic outcomes. One-fifth of Australia's GHG abatement can be achieved by circular economy measures, which will add US\$ 48 billion in 2015 prices to Australia's GDP by 2050.

5.1 Evaluation of Australia's circular economy goals and targets

The two scenarios can inform a set of ambitious targets for Australia's circular economy. The modelling explored if **doubling Australia's circularity rate** by 2035 would be an ambitious but achievable objective. The modelling shows that achieving this will require substantial investment beyond traditional recycling practices, extending to the recycling of mining waste and biological end-of-life materials such as biosolids. As an overarching long-term target, maintaining the goal of doubling circularity is recommended despite its ambitious nature.

Modelling suggests **reducing the material footprint** in absolute terms is unfeasible given the growing population and the current economic and trade settings. A realistic target could focus on reducing the per capita material footprint, aiming for a 10% reduction by 2035, which our modelling suggests will be achievable. This reduction in Australia's material footprint will mean that our average environmental pressure and impact will be reduced, creating a more responsible economic pathway focussing on long-term economic and environmental objectives.

Modelling suggests that an ambitious but achievable target for **increasing material productivity** could be a 30% improvement by 2035. Such a rise in material productivity will have positive economic impacts and contribute to Australia's economic growth.

Achieving an 80% **reduction in waste to landfill**, which involves the safe recovery of core waste, presents significant difficulties due to diminishing returns. This goal would require considerable additional investment in sorting and recovery facilities and the development of strong domestic and export markets for secondary materials. While achieving very high recycling rates and reducing landfills to minimal levels is theoretically possible, the ecoefficiency of such efforts can quickly become negative. This negative result is due to the significant material and energy inputs that may be needed to make the recovered materials economically viable. Determining which recycling activities are truly eco-efficient often requires detailed, location- and material-specific life cycle assessments (LCA).

Table 2 Summary of five policy goals and their likelihood of being achieved by 2030.

POLICY GOAL	2020	2030 HISTORICAL TRENDS	2030 CIRCULAR ECONOMY POLICY	GOAL LIKELIHOOD
Double the circularity of the economy	4.6%	4.5%	5.5% - 5.8%	Unlikely
Shrink material footprint	802.6 million tonnes	909.1 million tonnes +13.3%	848 million tonnes +5.7%	Unachievable, replace by stabilise material footprint
Shrink per-capita material footprint	31.5 tonnes	31.3 tonnes -0.6%	29.2 tonnes -7.3%	Achievable
Lift material productivity	1.28 US\$/kg	1.36 US\$/kg +6.3%	1.45 US\$/kg +13.3%	Achievable
Safely recover 80% of materials	59%	61%	80% (modelled based on target)	Hard to achieve and requires additional investment into recovery facilities and end markets

We here report two additional tables similar to Table 2 for 2035 and 2050.

Table 3 Summary of five policy goals and their likelihood of being achieved by 2035.

POLICY GOAL	2020	2035 HISTORICAL TRENDS	2035 CIRCULAR ECONOMY POLICY	GOAL LIKELIHOOD
Double the circularity of the economy	4.6%	4.5%	6.1% - 8.4%	Achievable with additional effort beyond recycling of core waste
Shrink material footprint	802.6 million tonnes	958.4 million tonnes +19.4%	848.8 million tonnes +5.8%	Unachievable, replace by stabilise material footprint
Shrink per-capita material footprint	31.5 tonnes	31.3 tonnes -0.6%	27.7 tonnes -12.1%	Achievable
Lift material productivity	1.28 US\$/kg	1.43 US\$/kg +11.7%	1.61 US\$/kg +25.8%	Achievable
Safely recover 80% of materials	59%	61%	80% (modelled based on target)	Hard to achieve and requires additional investment into recovery facilities and end markets

Table 4 Summary of five policy goals and their likelihood of being achieved by 2050.

POLICY GOAL	2020	2050 HISTORICAL TRENDS	2050 CIRCULAR ECONOMY POLICY	GOAL LIKELIHOOD
Double the circularity of the economy	4.6%	4.4%	6.0% - 11.8%	Achievable with effort from the mining waste
Shrink material footprint	802.6 million tonnes	1,159.4 million tonnes +44.4%	890.2 million tonnes +10.9%	Unachievable, replace by stabilise material footprint
Shrink per-capita material footprint	31.5 tonnes	32.8 tonnes +4.1%	25.2 tonnes -20.0%	Achievable
Lift material productivity	1.28 US\$/kg	1.63 US\$/kg +27.3%	2.11 US\$/kg +64.8%	Achievable
Safely recover 80% of materials	59%	63%	80% (modelled based on target)	Hard to achieve and requires additional investment into recovery facilities and end markets

References

Ameli, N. (2017). Libraries of Things as a new form of sharing. Pushing the Sharing Economy. *The Design Journal, 20*(sup1), S3294-S3304. https://doi.org/10.1080/14606925.20 17.1352833

Australian Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water. (2019). *National Waste Policy Action Plan 2019* (ENV 284.0819). https://www.dcceew.gov.au/ sites/default/files/documents/national-waste-policy-actionplan-2019.pdf

Australian Government. (2022). *New expert group to guide Australia's transition to a circular economy*. Retrieved 21 August 2023 from https://minister.dcceew.gov.au/plibersek/ media-releases/new-expert-group-guide-australiastransition-circular-economy

Australian Treasury. (2024). *Measuring what matters*. Retrieved 01 August 2024 from https://treasury.gov.au/ policy-topics/measuring-what-matters

Blue Environment. (2022). *National Waste Report 2022*. https://www.dcceew.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/ national-waste-report-2022.pdf

Bovea, M. D., & Powell, J. C. (2016). Developments in life cycle assessment applied to evaluate the environmental performance of construction and demolition wastes. *Waste Manag, 50,* 151-172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. wasman.2016.01.036

Brinsmead, T., Rendall, A., Baynes, T., Butler, C., Kelly, R., Adams, P., Hayward, J., Reedman, L., Nolan, M., Lennox, J., Hennessy, K., Wynn, K., Ahmad, M., Marcos Martinez, R., Collins, L., Lu, Y., Che, N., Qiu, J., & Kanudia, A. (2019). *Australian National Outlook 2019 Technical report*. https://doi.org/10.25919/5d0934b82e649

Brody, H. (2022). Building a circular economy [Note]. *Nature*, *611*(7936), S1. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-022-03643-2

Busu, M., & Trica, C. L. (2019). Sustainability of Circular Economy Indicators and Their Impact on Economic Growth of the European Union. *Sustainability*, *11*(19), 5481. https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/11/19/5481

Calisto Friant, M., Vermeulen, W. J. V., & Salomone, R. (2021). Analysing European Union circular economy policies: words versus actions. *Sustainable Production and Consumption*, *27*, 337-353. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2020.11.001

Corona, B., Shen, L., Reike, D., Rosales Carreón, J., & Worrell, E. (2019). Towards sustainable development through the circular economy—A review and critical assessment on current circularity metrics. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 151*, 104498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. resconrec.2019.104498

European Commission. (2023). *Circular economy action plan*. Retrieved 11 July 2024 from https://environment.ec.europa. eu/strategy/circular-economy-action-plan_en

Ferasso, M., Beliaeva, T., Kraus, S., Clauss, T., & Ribeiro-Soriano, D. (2020). Circular economy business models: The state of research and avenues ahead. *Business Strategy and the Environment, 29*(8), 3006-3024. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2554

Gaines, L. (2014). The future of automotive lithium-ion battery recycling: Charting a sustainable course. *Sustainable Materials and Technologies, 1-2, 2-7*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. susmat.2014.10.001

González-Torres, M., Pérez-Lombard, L., Coronel, J. F., Maestre, I. R., & Yan, D. (2022). A review on buildings energy information: Trends, end-uses, fuels and drivers. *Energy Reports*, *8*, 626-637. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egyr.2021.11.280

Government of the Netherlands. (2023). *Circular Dutch economy by 2050*. Retrieved 11 July 2024 from https://www.government.nl/topics/circular-economy/ circular-dutch-economy-by-2050

Haar, G. (2024). Transition to a Circular Economy. In G. Haar (Ed.), *The Great Transition to a Green and Circular Economy* (pp. 89-126). Springer Nature Switzerland. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-031-49658-5_9

Haas, W., Krausmann, F., Wiedenhofer, D., & Heinz, M. (2015). How Circular is the Global Economy?: An Assessment of Material Flows, Waste Production, and Recycling in the European Union and the World in 2005. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, *19*(5), 765-777. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12244

Harper, G., Sommerville, R., Kendrick, E., Driscoll, L., Slater, P., Stolkin, R., Walton, A., Christensen, P., Heidrich, O., Lambert, S., Abbott, A., Ryder, K., Gaines, L., & Anderson, P. (2019). Recycling lithium-ion batteries from electric vehicles. *Nature*, *575*(7781), 75-86. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1682-5 Havlík, P., Schneider, U. A., Schmid, E., Böttcher, H., Fritz, S., Skalský, R., Aoki, K., Cara, S. D., Kindermann, G., Kraxner, F., Leduc, S., McCallum, I., Mosnier, A., Sauer, T., & Obersteiner, M. (2011). Global land-use implications of first and second generation biofuel targets. *Energy Policy*, *39*(10), 5690-5702. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2010.03.030

Huuhka, S., & Vestergaard, I. (2020). Building conservation and the circular economy: a theoretical consideration. *Journal of Cultural Heritage Management and Sustainable Development, 10*(1), 29-40. https://doi.org/10.1108/ JCHMSD-06-2019-0081

IEA. (2023). *Global Energy and Climate Model*. https://www.iea.org/reports/global-energy-and-climate-model

Kosai, S., & Yamasue, E. (2019). Global warming potential and total material requirement in metal production: Identification of changes in environmental impact through metal substitution. *Science of The Total Environment, 651,* 1764-1775. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.085

Kostakis, I., & Tsagarakis, K. P. (2022). The role of entrepreneurship, innovation and socioeconomic development on circularity rate: Empirical evidence from selected European countries. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *348*, 131267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.131267

Krausmann, F., Wiedenhofer, D., Lauk, C., Haas, W., Tanikawa, H., Fishman, T., Miatto, A., Schandl, H., & Haberl, H. (2017). Global socioeconomic material stocks rise 23-fold over the 20th century and require half of annual resource use. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *114*(8), 1880-1885. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.1613773114

Leipold, S., Petit-Boix, A., Luo, A., Helander, H., Simoens, M., Ashton, W. S., Babbitt, C. W., Bala, A., Bening, C. R., Birkved, M., Blomsma, F., Boks, C., Boldrin, A., Deutz, P., Domenech, T., Ferronato, N., Gallego-Schmid, A., Giurco, D., Hobson, K., . . . Xue, B. (2023). Lessons, narratives, and research directions for a sustainable circular economy. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, *27*(1), 6-18. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jiec.13346

Mayer, A., Haas, W., Wiedenhofer, D., Krausmann, F., Nuss, P., & Blengini, G. A. (2019). Measuring Progress towards a Circular Economy: A Monitoring Framework for Economywide Material Loop Closing in the EU28. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, *23*(1), 62-76. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12809 Miatto, A., Emami, N., Goodwin, K., West, J., Taskhiri, M. S., Wiedmann, T., & Schandl, H. (2024). Australia's circular economy metrics and indicators. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, *28*(2), 216-231. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/ jiec.13458

Miatto, A., Fasanella, Y., Mainardi, M., & Borin, P. (2023). Correlation between building size and material intensity in residential buildings. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 197*, 107093. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2023.107093

Mies, A., & Gold, S. (2021). Mapping the social dimension of the circular economy. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *321*, 128960. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.128960

Nicholson, V., & Miatto, A. (2024). Architects as catalysts of reuse in construction. *Nature Cities*, *1*(3), 179-181. https://doi. org/10.1038/s44284-024-00042-8

Nikanorova, M., Imoniana, J.O., & Stankeviciene, J. (2020). Analysis of social dimension and well-being in the context of circular economy. *International Journal of Global Warming*, *21*(3), 299-316. https://doi.org/10.1504/ ijgw.2020.108678

OECD Publishing, Paris. *Global Material Resources Outlook to 2060: Economic Drivers and Environmental Consequences*. O. Publishing. DOI - https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264307452-en

Pittau, F., Giacomel, D., Iannaccone, G., & Malighetti, L. (2020). Environmental consequences of refurbishment versus demolition and reconstruction: a comparative life cycle assessment of an Italian case study. *Journal of Green Building*, *15*(4), 155-172. https://doi.org/10.3992/jgb.15.4.155

Power, A. (2008). Does demolition or refurbishment of old and inefficient homes help to increase our environmental, social and economic viability? *Energy Policy*, *36*(12), 4487-4501. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2008.09.022

Pratt, A. C. (2022). Toward circular governance in the culture and creative economy: Learning the lessons from the circular economy and environment. *City, Culture and Society, 29*, 100450. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccs.2022.100450

Purvis, B., Mao, Y., & Robinson, D. (2019). Three pillars of sustainability: in search of conceptual origins. *Sustainability Science*, *14*(3), 681-695. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-018-0627-5

Richardson, K., Steffen, W., Lucht, W., Bendtsen, J., Cornell, S. E., Donges, J. F., Drüke, M., Fetzer, I., Bala, G., von Bloh, W., Feulner, G., Fiedler, S., Gerten, D., Gleeson, T., Hofmann, M., Huiskamp, W., Kummu, M., Mohan, C., Nogués-Bravo, D., . . . Rockström, J. (2023). Earth beyond six of nine planetary boundaries. *Science Advances*, *9*(37), eadh2458. https://doi.org/doi:10.1126/sciadv.adh2458

Roca, L. C., & Searcy, C. (2012). An analysis of indicators disclosed in corporate sustainability reports. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *20*(1), 103-118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jclepro.2011.08.002

Rockström, J., Kotzé, L., Milutinović, S., Biermann, F., Brovkin, V., Donges, J., Ebbesson, J., French, D., Gupta, J., Kim, R., Lenton, T., Lenzi, D., Nakicenovic, N., Neumann, B., Schuppert, F., Winkelmann, R., Bosselmann, K., Folke, C., Lucht, W., . . . Steffen, W. (2024). The planetary commons: A new paradigm for safeguarding Earth-regulating systems in the Anthropocene. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *121*(5), e2301531121. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.2301531121

Russell, W. M. S. (1995). The Development of the Three Rs Concept. *Alternatives to Laboratory Animals*, *23*(3), 298-304. https://doi.org/10.1177/026119299502300306

Schandl, H., Fischer-Kowalski, M., West, J., Giljum, S., Dittrich, M., Eisenmenger, N., Geschke, A., Lieber, M., Wieland, H., Schaffartzik, A., Krausmann, F., Gierlinger, S., Hosking, K., Lenzen, M., Tanikawa, H., Miatto, A., & Fishman, T. (2018). Global Material Flows and Resource Productivity: Forty Years of Evidence. *Journal of Industrial Ecology, 22*(4), 827-838. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12626

Schandl, H., & Miatto, A. (2018). On the importance of linking inputs and outputs in material flow accounts. The Weight of Nations report revisited. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 204,* 334-343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jclepro.2018.08.333

Schandl, H., West, J., Lu, Y., Baynes, T., & Wang, H. (2019). Material Flow Accounts Australia. A comprehensive material flow account for the Australian economy (EP197565). https://doi.org/10.25919/kzwx-0154

Schröder, P., Lemille, A., & Desmond, P. (2020). Making the circular economy work for human development. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, *156*, 104686. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2020.104686

Shahjalal, M., Roy, P. K., Shams, T., Fly, A., Chowdhury, J. I., Ahmed, M. R., & Liu, K. (2022). A review on second-life of Liion batteries: prospects, challenges, and issues. *Energy*, *241*, 122881. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2021.122881

Siddiqua, A., Hahladakis, J. N., & Al-Attiya, W. A. K. A. (2022). An overview of the environmental pollution and health effects associated with waste landfilling and open dumping. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, *29*(39), 58514-58536. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-022-21578-z

Stahel, W. R. (2019). *The Circular Economy*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429259203

Statistics Finland. (2024). *Circular Economy*. Retrieved 11 July 2024 from https://stat.fi/tup/kiertotalous/index_en.html

Stehfest, E., van Vuuren, D., Kram, T., Bouwman, L., Alkemade, R., Bakkenes, M., Bouwman, A., den Elzen, M., Janse, J., Lucas, P., van Minnen, J., Gerdien Prins, A., Biemans, H., & Müller, C. (2014). *Integrated Assessment of Global Environmental Change with IMAGE 3.0.* PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency. https://www.pbl.nl/en/publications/integrated-assessmentof-global-environmental-change-with-image-30-modeldescription-and-policy-applications

Su, X., Huang, Y., Chen, C., Xu, Z., Tian, S., & Peng, L. (2023). A dynamic life cycle assessment model for long-term carbon emissions prediction of buildings: A passive building as case study. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, *96*, 104636. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scs.2023.104636

Suárez-Eiroa, B., Fernández, E., & Méndez, G. (2021). Integration of the circular economy paradigm under the just and safe operating space narrative: Twelve operational principles based on circularity, sustainability and resilience. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 322,* 129071. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.129071

UNECE. (2023). Guidelines for Measuring Circular Economy. Part A: Conceptual Framework, Indicators and Measurement Framework. United Nations Economic Commission for Europe. https://unece.org/sites/default/files/2024-02/ ECECESSTAT20235_WEB.pdf

UNEP. (2017). *Resource Efficiency: Potential and Economic Implications. A report of the International Resource Panel.* https://www.unep.org/resources/report/resource-efficiency-potential-and-economic-implications-international-resource UNEP. (2023). *The Use of Natural Resources in the Economy: A Global Manual on Economy Wide Material Flow Accounting* (DEW/2356/NA). https://wedocs.unep. org/20.500.11822/36253

UNEP. (2024). *Global Resources Outlook 2024: Bend the Trend* – *Pathways to a liveable planet as resource use spikes*. http://wedocs.unep.org/handle/20.500.11822/44901

Verikios, G., Reedman, L., Green, D., Nolan, M., Lu, Y., Rodriguez, S., Murugesan, M., & Havas, L. (2024). *Data* - *Modelling Sectoral Pathways to Net Zero. v1.* https://doi. org/10.25919/89wq-4j48

West, J., Ford, J. A., & Meyers, J. (2021). *Known unknowns: the devil in the details of energy metal demand. Using an integrated physical framework to explore opportunities and risks for metals in the energy transition* (EP2021-0520). https://doi.org/10.25919/hwwz-e856

Zhu, J., Fan, C., Shi, H., & Shi, L. (2019). Efforts for a Circular Economy in China: A Comprehensive Review of Policies. *Journal of Industrial Ecology, 23*(1), 110-118. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12754

Appendix: Sectoral circular economy opportunities

Australia's current circularity rate of 3.7% (Miatto et al., 2024) appears low compared with the global average of 7.2%. However, there are four main areas of improvement: manufacturing, food and agriculture, the built environment, and the mineral resources industries.

Manufacturing plays a pivotal role in enabling the circular economy because it can alter the quality and quantity of materials it chooses to use as inputs, thus promoting resource efficiency. It is important to highlight that remanufacturing, a subset of all manufacturing processes, falls within this domain. The design stage of a product determines up to 80% of its environmental impact. Therefore, manufacturing designed for waste minimisation and material recovery creates a solid foundation where products are fabricated with circular economy principles in mind. This approach ensures that production waste materials can be easily reclaimed, repurposed, or reprocessed, thereby reducing both waste disposal and the need for primary materials. Remanufacturing extends the lifecycle of products by restoring worn items to nearnew condition, preserving the materials embedded in the original manufacturing process. It reduces the materials needed for new products and, in most cases, cuts down energy use and emissions associated with producing brandnew products. In a circular economy, (re)manufacturing fosters a more tightly looped system that emphasises longevity, reduces environmental pressures, and supports sustainable resource use.

The food and agriculture sector is responsible for about a quarter of Australia's material footprint (Miatto et al., 2024). Additionally, Australia generates approximately 7.6 million tonnes of food waste annually. Food packaging, largely reliant on single-use plastics, has a global recycling rate of around 6%. For these reasons, focusing on food and agriculture can generate significant gains in achieving a circular economy. This vast sector covers everything from crop production to animal husbandry, food processing, distribution, and disposal, each with different challenges and opportunities to close material loops, enhance resource efficiency, and minimise waste. Waste can be reduced in the food and agriculture sector through various activities, such as precision farming, which uses advanced technology like drones to collect real-time information on crop health and soil conditions or selective harvesting. Additionally, organic waste composting can reduce the need for synthetic fertilisers.

The built environment uses over 50% of all materials extracted annually and is responsible for over one-quarter of all global greenhouse gas emissions (Krausmann et al., 2017; Su et al., 2023). In the Australian context, housing and mobility use 53% of its overall material footprint (Miatto et al., 2024). Because of these large material and carbon shares, they are often the target of analysis by scholars, as even small percentage reductions can make quite a big difference. Moreover, in 2020–21, construction and demolition activities generated 29 Mt of waste, making it the largest and fastest-growing source of materials processed in waste management systems (Blue Environment, 2022).

There are several strategies one can employ to reduce the impact of the built environment on material extraction, energy use, and emissions. First and foremost, there is better design, in the sense that it is possible to create buildings that use less material, energy, and make a better use of space (González-Torres et al., 2022). The average floorspace of Australian homes is the world's largest, which translates to high material demand and more energy needed to heat/cool the building (Miatto et al., 2023). Second is the inclusion of secondary materials, which can offset the demand for virgin resources and often have lower environmental impacts than primary materials (Nicholson & Miatto, 2024). A third option is to facilitate building refurbishment rather than demolish-and-rebuild, as in almost all cases, the former has smaller impacts than the latter (Pittau et al., 2020; Power, 2008).

The mining sector is critical in supplying metals in increasingly high demand globally (Schandl et al., 2018). Metals are essential for myriad applications and often lack viable substitutes (Kosai & Yamasue, 2019). In Australia, in particular, the mining sector is responsible for large waste flows. Past research has estimated that, in 2019, the Australian mining sector generated 371 Mt of gangue and tailings (Miatto et al., 2024). Addressing the environmental impacts associated with the extraction of virgin resources requires exploring several mitigation strategies.

First, the mining sector could more broadly adopt the Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) framework. ESG principles guide responsible investment by prioritising projects that minimise environmental impact while maximising social benefits (Roca & Searcy, 2012). This approach can lead to more sustainable mining practices. Second, repurposing spent electric vehicle (EV) batteries for stationary domestic energy storage represents a promising avenue. Modelling by CSIRO has indicated that in the Australian context, large scale adoption of EVs would lead over time to being able to meet grid storage requirements of renewables-based electricity grid from second-life EV batteries alone (West et al., 2021).

Many EVs are now reaching their end of life, and batteries are often processed in recycling facilities to extract critical minerals such as cobalt and nickel (Gaines, 2014; Harper et al., 2019). Although the performance of these batteries might be unsuitable for such a demanding application as moving a vehicle, they often remain suitable for less demanding applications, such as home energy storage (Shahjalal et al., 2022). Third, much of the mining waste sits unutilised near mining sites. When managed in an environmentally sound manner, this waste could be repurposed as loose aggregate or ballast in civil engineering projects, contributing to resource efficiency and waste reduction. We explore this third option in our circularity rate assessment in §4.6.

As Australia's national science agency, CSIRO is solving the greatest challenges through innovative science and technology.

CSIRO. Creating a better future for everyone.

Contact us

1300 363 400 +61 3 9545 2176 csiro.au/contact csiro.au

For further information Environment Alessio Miatto alessio.miatto@csiro.au csiro.au/circular-economy